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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MONTANA

BILLINGS DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

vs.

DOUGLAS VANCE CROOKED ARM,

Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Cause No. CR 13-18-BLG-RFC

REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT
OF MOTION TO DISMISS

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

The government’s response brief misunderstands Vance Crooked Arm’s

arguments, and therefore responds to the wrong questions.  

When federal agents come to the Crow Fair; purport to be horse trainers;

and feign that their family members have Native heritage, thus they are interested

in Native artifacts, something is wrong.  These allegedly felonious feathers came

off of land secured to the Crow Tribe in perpetuity, together with the rights of
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ownership subject to “reasonable” and “mild” regulation.  In ancient Athens, all

olive trees were considered sacred, and cutting one down was punishable by death. 

We look back on this era as Draconian – suggesting a modest sanction would be

appropriate, not the most severe.  We have a modern day Draconian law, if

enforced, which proscribes a felony for a feather.  One can imagine how treaty

negotiations would have gone if the Crow Nation would have thought this

mischief would have ensued. 

Analysis

A. Abrogation of treaty rights is immaterial if Defendants have been
charged with a statute that never applied to Native Americans.

The question is not whether Native Americans currently have the right to

traffic in decorated feathers. They do not. See U.S. v. Dion, 476 U.S. 734, 745

(1986).  Rather, the question is whether the Defendants have been charged with a

statute that prohibits Native Americans from trafficking in bird feathers. They

have not.

Subsequent abrogation of treaty rights is immaterial if the MBTA did not

apply to Native Americans at the time it was enacted. Rules of statutory

construction require the Court to conclude that Native Americans are exempt from

the MBTA—regardless of whether other acts subsequently abrogated their rights.
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1There is no dispute that the MBTA did not abrogate any Crow treaty rights.
While the government disputes that Crow treaties promised the right to sell the
fruits of their harvest, it has not disputed Vance’s contention that nothing in the
statutory text or legislative history could be interpreted as an intention to abrogate
treaty rights. The government’s primary argument is that treaty rights were
abrogated through legislation that was passed after the MBTA was enacted—an
argument that is irrelevant to statutory interpretation of the MBTA. 
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The Court must apply rules of construction to determine what Congress

intended when it passed the MBTA.1 The MBTA is a law of general applicability,

and the statute does not apply to a tribe if it would have abrogated rights

guaranteed by a treaty. Solis v. Matheson, 563 F.3d 425, 430 (9th Cir. 2009). 

Under the rule set out in Solis, the Court must conclude that the MBTA never

applied to Native Americans with treaty rights.

The government’s reliance on U.S. v. Dion, is misplaced because the grand

jury did not charge Vance with violations of the Endangered Species Act, 16

U.S.C. § 1531, and the Bald Eagle Protection Act, 16 U.S.C. § 668. In Dion, the

Supreme Court held that Native American rights to sell eagle feathers was

abrogated by the Bald Eagle Protection Act of 1940. U.S. v. Dion, 476 U.S. at 745.

If the Bald Eagle Protection Act had been enacted before the MBTA, the

government’s argument would be well taken. But the MBTA was enacted in

1918—over twenty years before the Bald Eagle Protection Act. The Supreme

Court’s interpretation of the statutes in Dion is irrelevant to this Court’s task of
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interpreting the MBTA.

It is not proper for the Court to abandon rules of construction and to guess

what Congress would have done—95 years earlier—if Native Americans did not

have treaties protecting their right to make a modest living off the land. The

Native American lobby may have been silent when draft bills were being

considered because it understood that treaties protected their rights with respect to

migratory birds. The only native population that did not have treaty rights—Native

Alaskans—were able to have provisions inserted into the Act that appropriately

limited the Acts application. 16 U.S.C. § 712.  

     B. The government’s narrow reading of the Crow treaties conflicts
with the requirement that treaties be read broadly in favor of
Native Americans.

To preserve the commercial nature of the Crow’s hunting rights, the Fort

Laramie treaties were not required to explicitly state that the Crow could sell the

fruits of their harvest.  See Jones v. Meehan, 175 U.S. 1, 11 (1899). 

Nor is it necessary for the Court to engage in a painstaking analysis of what

types of animals, beads, or plants the Crow traditionally traded in. The United

States did not limit its promise to those animals that had been traditionally hunted
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2In no way does Vance concede that the Crow did not trade or sell
ceremonial fans. Rather Vance contends that it is an unnecessary exercise.
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or sold.2 If opossums found their way onto Crow land, a tribal member exercising

his right to live off the land could hunt the exotic animal. It is disingenuous to

suggest that a week after the treaty was signed a Crow tribal member would not

believe that he could hunt the animal. This Court is not required to determine what

animals Crow traditionally sold just because other courts cited instances of Native

Americans selling feathers to support conclusions that treaties contained a

commercial element. 

The issue is whether the Crow understood the treaties to permit them to be

hunter gatherers. While the United States offered to help members of the Crow

Nation transition to an agricultural lifestyle, the right to hunt was retained, and the

decision to farm was discretionary. Treaty with the Crows, art. 6 (May 7, 1968)

(“If any individual belonging to said tribes of Indians . . . shall desire to commence

farming . . . .”). When the United States explicitly promised the Crow that they

could continue to hunt, a member of the Crow tribe would have understood that

they could continue to make a modest living off the land. A suggestion that

members of the Crow tribe never sold the fruits of their harvest or engaged in

commerce is a suggestion that is ignorant about human nature. Treaty rights are to
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be read broadly in favor of Native Americans, and never to be construed to their

prejudice. Jones, 175 U.S. at 11.

 C. A felony is not a mild regulation.

The government cites a provision of the 1825 Crow Treaty that promises the

Crow the right to engage in commerce, but the commerce may be subject to “mild

and equitable regulations.” 

Threat of a felony is not a mild and equitable regulation. “[F]elony is . . . as

bad a word as you can give to man or thing.” Staples v. U.S., 511 U.S. 600, 618

(1994) (quoting 2 F. Pollock & F. Maitland, History of English Law 465 (2d ed.

1899)) (internal quotation marks omitted). 

Here, Defendants have been charged in a four count indictment. The

indictment states that Count I carries a penalty of 5 years imprisonment, $250,000

fine, and three years supervised release. The indictment states that Counts II, III,

and IV, each carry a penalty of 2 years imprisonment, $250,000 fine, and one year

supervised release. These are not mild and equitable punishments, and the Court

should therefore read the MBTA to conflict with treaty rights created in the Fort

Laramie treaties.

Conclusion

What rights are protected under the Fort Laramie treaties is a question of
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law that the Court can decide. The indictment fails to state a claim against Vance

Crooked Arm, and the indictment should be dismissed. 

DATED this 29th day of April, 2013.

PARKER, HEITZ & COSGROVE, PLLC
401 N. 31st Street, Suite 805
P.O. Box 7212
Billings, Montana 59103-7212

/s/  Brian M. Murphy
By: ___________________________________

Mark D. Parker
Brian M. Murphy

  Attorneys for Defendant Douglas Vance Crooked Arm

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

Defendant Douglas Vance Crooked Arm hereby certifies, pursuant to Local

Rule 7.1(2)(E), that his Reply Brief in Support of Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss

is printed with a proportionately-spaced, Times New Roman typeface of 14 points;

is double spaced; WordPerfect 9.0 for Windows, and is 1,269 words, excluding

caption and certificate of compliance.

/s/  Brian M. Murphy
By: ___________________________________

Mark D. Parker
Brian M. Murphy

  Attorneys for Defendant Douglas Vance Crooked Arm
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